## **PUBLIC DISCLOSURE**

March 20, 2023

# **COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT ACT**

## PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

Ally Bank RSSD# 3284070

200 West Civic Center Drive Sandy, Utah 84070

Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago

230 South LaSalle Street Chicago, Illinois 60604-1413

NOTE:

This document is an evaluation of this bank's record of meeting the credit needs of its entire community, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with safe and sound operation of the bank. This evaluation is not, nor should it be construed as, an assessment of the financial condition of this bank. The rating assigned to this bank does not represent an analysis, conclusion or opinion of the federal financial supervisory agency concerning the safety and soundness of this financial bank.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	2
INSTITUTION'S CRA RATING	
ALLY BANK'S OVERALL CRA RATING	
ALLY BANK	3
DESCRIPTION OF INSTITUTION	3
SCOPE OF THE EXAMINATION	4
DESCRIPTION OF ASSESSMENT AREA	5
CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE CRITERIA	12
LENDING AND INVESTMENT TEST	12
SERVICE TEST	16
Fair Lending or Other Illegal Credit Practices Review	16
APPENDIX A – Scope of Examination	17
APPENDIX B - Glossary	18

#### INSTITUTION'S CRA RATING

## Ally Bank's Overall CRA Rating: Outstanding

A Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) Rating of "Outstanding" is assigned. The institution's performance reflects an outstanding record of helping to meet the credit needs of the assessment area, including low- and moderate- income areas, as outlined by its 2020-2022 Strategic Plan (the Plan). The following conclusions support this rating:

### **Lending and Investment Goals**

- Ally Bank exceeded the institution's established goals for Outstanding performance in the combined goal for CRA-Qualifying Loans and Community Development (CD) Loans and Investments.
- Ally Bank exceeded all of the annual interim goals in the combined goal for CRA-Qualifying Loans and CD Loans and Investments.
- Ally Bank's actual performance exceeded the amounts for Outstanding for all three subgoals in the Utah Assessment Area (UTAA), including the annual interim goals for each asset category.
- Ally Bank exceeded the Plan's requirement in which 90 percent of auto loans to small businesses located in low- and moderate-income (LMI) census tracts in the UTAA must be in amounts of \$100,000 or less.

#### Service Goals

- CD Service hours exceeded the institution's established goals for Outstanding performance.
- Ally Bank exceeded all of the annual interim goals for CD Service hours.
- Ally Bank exceeded the Plan's requirement in which at least 50 percent of the CD Service hours per year must be in the UTAA.

#### **ALLY BANK**

#### **DESCRIPTION OF INSTITUTION**

Ally Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary bank of Ally Financial, Inc. (AFI), an independent, nationwide automotive financial services firm and a leading digital financial services company. As of December 31, 2022, AFI held \$191.8 billion in combined assets with Ally Bank comprising \$181.9 billion in assets. AFI is headquartered in Detroit, Michigan and Ally Bank is headquartered in Sandy, Utah. Ally Bank maintains no branch offices or deposit-taking automated teller machines (ATMs); it provides all of AFI's direct banking business online. Deposit products include checking, savings, and money market deposit accounts, as well as certificates of deposit. Ally Bank, together with AFI, is one of the nation's leading providers of automotive financing and leasing products, including automotive vehicle purchase and lease financing to consumers, dealership financing, and commercial financing. Ally Bank also offers an array of personal lending and mortgage products and services.

There are no known legal, financial, or other factors impeding the bank's ability to help meet the credit needs in its communities.

At its previous evaluation conducted on September 28, 2020, the bank was rated **Outstanding** under the CRA.

As presented in the following table, the bank held \$136.1 billion in loans as of December 31, 2022. Consistent with AFI's core lines of business, Ally Bank's loan portfolio is primarily represented by automobile loans and commercial and industrial loans (dealer floorplan).

Comparative Loan Mix					
	\$ Volume (000) 12/31/21	% of Portfolio 12/31/21	\$ Volume (000) 12/31/22	% of Portfolio 12/31/22	
Real Estate					
Other Const Loans & Land Development & Other	201,000	0.2	360,000	0.3	
1-4 Family-Revolving	244,000	0.2	195,000	0.1	
1-4 Family Res Secured by First Liens	17,797,000	14.5	19,519,000	14.3	
1-4 Family Res Secured by Junior Liens	50,000	0.0	34,000	0.0	
Secured Multifamily Res Properties	68,000	0.1	78,000	0.1	
Loans Secured Owner Occupied Non-Farm Non-	3,628,000	3.0	3,778,000	2.8	
Residential					
Loans Secured by Other Non-Farm Non-Residential	1,015,000	0.8	1,295,000	1.0	
Total Real Estate Loans	23,003,000	18.8	25,259,000	18.6	
Commercial & Industrial	24,682,000	20.1	29,554,000	21.7	
Automobile Loans	69,250,000	56.6	73,063,000	53.7	
Other Consumer Loans	1,009,000	0.8	1,990,000	1.5	
Obligations (other than securities and leases)	154,000	0.1	2,000	0.0	
All Other Loans including to non-depository institutions	2,965,000	2.4	4,255,000	3.1	
Lease Financing	386,000	0.3	388,000	0.3	
Total Loans & Leases	122,402,000	100.0	136,111,000	100.0	
Note: Percentages may not add to 100.0 percent due to roun	ding.				

#### SCOPE OF THE EXAMINATION

Ally Bank's CRA performance was evaluated under the Interagency Strategic Plan CRA Examination Procedures. The evaluation assessed the bank's performance in meeting the credit needs of its communities, including the bank's responsiveness to, and effectiveness in meeting, the credit and community development needs of its assessment area through the achievement of measurable goals established in its approved January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2022, CRA Strategic Plan. The bank's Plan was developed taking into consideration information about the institution including its business model, assessment area demographics and economic indicators, and information obtained from community partners. Performance rating criteria and thresholds were established in the approved Plan, and ratings are assigned for actual performance in relation to these established goals.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF ASSESSMENT AREA**

Ally Bank's 2020-2022 delineated Utah assessment area (UTAA) consists of eight contiguous counties in the Salt Lake City-Provo-Orem Combined Statistical Area (CSA) #482 including or bordering the Sandy, Utah headquarters location. Specific counties include Salt Lake and Tooele Counties in the Salt Lake City Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) #41620, Davis, Morgan, and Weber Counties in the Ogden-Clearfield MSA #36260, Utah County in the Provo-Orem MSA #39340, and Summit and Wasatch Counties designated as non-metropolitan areas. The bank's assessment area has not changed since the previous evaluation.

The assessment area contains 575 census tracts, of which 17 are low-income, 109 are moderate-income, 274 are middle-income, 165 are upper-income, and 10 for which income is unknown. Additional demographic information as of 2022 for the assessment area is presented below.

# Combined Demographics Report

Assessment Group(s): 2022 Portions of Salt Lake City-Provo-Orem CSA 482

Income Categories	Tract Distributi	Distribution		amilies ract Inco		Families < Po Level as % Families by	6 of	Families by Family Income	
	#	%		#	%	#	%	#	%
Low-income	17	3.0		11,759	2.0	2,936	25.0	101,004	17.1
Moderate-income	109	19.0		104,794	17.7	11,498	11.0	112,345	19.0
Middle-income	274	47.7		294,658	49.8	13,774	4.7	141,418	23.9
Upper-income	165	28.7		180,600	30.5	4,713	2.6	237,193	40.1
Unknown-income	10	1.7		149	0.0	36	24.2	0	0.0
Total Assessment Area	575	100.0		591,960	100.0	32,957	5.6	591,960	100.0
	Housing				Hous	ing Types by T	Tract		
	Units by	(	Owner-	Occupied	l	Rental		Vacant	
	Tract		#	%	%	#	%	#	%
Low-income	22,204		3,679	0.7	16.6	16,557	74.6	1,968	8.9
Moderate-income	173,496	8	33,072	14.8	47.9	79,859	46.0	10,565	6.1
Middle-income	411,191	28	36,120	50.9	69.6	104,195	25.3	20,876	5.1
Upper-income	249,343	18	88,798	33.6	75.7	34,314	13.8	26,231	10.5
Unknown-income	548		6	0.0	1.1	492	89.8	50	9.1
Total Assessment Area	856,782	82 561,675 100.0		65.6 235,417 27		27.5	59,690	7.0	
	Total Busines	sses by		Businesses by Tract & Revenu				ue Size	
	Tract		Less Than or = \$1 Million		Over \$1 Million		Revenue Not Reported		
	#	%		#	%	#	%	#	%
Low-income	2,978	2.6		2,574	2.5	380	4.6	24	1.6
Moderate-income	17,771	15.7		15,767	15.2	1,846	22.4	158	10.6
Middle-income	54,367	47.9		49,531	47.7	4,188	50.8	648	43.4
Upper-income	37,579	33.1		35,286	34.0	1,638	19.9	655	43.8
Unknown-income	782	0.7		587	0.6	186	2.3	9	0.6
Total Assessment Area	113,477	100.0		103,745	100.0	8,238	100.0	1,494	100.0
	Percentage of	Total B	usines	ses:	91.4		7.3		1.3
	Total Farm	s by			Farm	is by Tract & l	Revenue	enue Size	
	Tract			ss Than \$1 Millio		Over \$1 Million		Revenue N Reporte	
	#	%		#	%	#	%	#	%
Low-income	12	1.1		12	1.1	0	0.0	0	0.0
Moderate-income	101	9.2		96	9.0	5	16.7	0	0.0
Middle-income	567	51.5		548	51.2	19	63.3	0	0.0
Upper-income	420	38.1		414	38.7	6	20.0	0	0.0
Unknown-income	1	0.1		1	0.1	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total Assessment Area	1,101	100.0		1,071	100.0	30	100.0	0	.0
	Percentage of	Total F	arms:		97.3		2.7		.0

2022 FFIEC Census Data and 2022 D&B Information

As shown in the Census Tract Designation Changes table below, there were changes in the distribution of census tracts by income since the previous evaluation.

The median family income levels (MFI) for census tracts are calculated using the income data from the United States Census Bureau's American Community Survey and geographic definitions from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and are updated approximately every five years (.12(m) Income Level). The income data used to calculate geographic income designations changed between 2021 and 2022. Accordingly, lending activity that took place in calendar years up to and including 2021 are evaluated based on ACS income level definitions from the five-year survey data set 2011-2015. Lending activity performed in 2022 and beyond are evaluated based on ACS income level definitions from the five-year survey data set 2016-2020.

Census Tract Designation Changes American Community Survey Data (ACS)						
Tract Income Designation   2021 Designations (#)   2022 Designations (#)   Net Change (#)						
Low	23	17	-6			
Moderate	96	109	13			
Middle	202	274	72			
Upper	147	165	18			
Unknown	6	10	4			
Total	474	575	101			

Source: U. S. Census Bureau: Decennial Census: American Community Survey Data: 2011-2015 U.S. Census Bureau: Decennial Census: America Community Survey Data: 2016-2020

In addition to the UTAA, the bank's Broader Statewide or Regional Area (BSRA) includes the following states: Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming.

#### **Population Characteristics**

According to the 2020 U.S. Census Bureau demographic data, the combined assessment area's population has increased from 2015. Wasatch and Morgan Counties experienced the greatest increases, with population changes of 30.5 and 19.6 percent, respectively. The population of the state as a whole increased by 12.7 percent. The combined assessment area represents 80.4 percent of the total state population, indicating that this assessment area is the major population center of the state and is largely responsible for the state's increase in population. Salt Lake County continues to be the most populous county in the state, comprising approximately 36.2 percent of the state of Utah population. The table below presents the population trends for the assessment area counties and the state of Utah from 2015 to 2020.

Population Change 2015 and 2020					
Area	2015 Population	2020 Population	Percentage Change (%)		
Davis County, UT	323,374	362,679	12.2		
Morgan County, UT	10,276	12,295	19.6		
Salt Lake County, UT	1,078,958	1,185,238	9.9		
Summit County, UT	38,521	42,357	10.0		
Tooele County, UT	60,893	72,698	19.4		
Utah County, UT	551,957	659,399	19.5		
Wasatch County, UT	26,661	34,788	30.5		
Weber County, UT	238,682	262,223	9.9		
State of Utah	2,903,379	3,271,616	12.7		

Source: Source: 2011-2015 U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey 2020 U.S. Census Bureau Decennial Census

#### **Income Characteristics**

According to the 2022 Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council's (FFIEC) Census Data, the UTAA is comprised of 591,960 families, of which 17.1 percent are designated as low-, 19.0 percent are moderate-, 23.9 percent are middle-, and 40.1 percent are upper-income. In addition, 5.6 percent of families residing within the assessment area live below the poverty line.

According to the 2016-2020 Census Bureau data, the median family income (MFI) in the combined assessment area and the state has increased since the 2011-2015 Census Bureau data. Overall, the MFI in a majority of the counties within the assessment area were consistent with or above the state of Utah in both the level and growth, indicative of a strong and growing economy. However, community partners still emphasized the continued need for educational and workforce development opportunities for LMI individuals to help bridge the economic divide within the assessment area. The table below compares the median family income for the assessment area counties and the state of Utah from 2016 to 2020.

Median Family Income 2011-2015 and 2016-2020					
2015 Median 2020 Median					
		Family Income	Family Income	Percentage	
Area		2015 Dollars (\$)	2020 Dollars (\$)	Change (%)	
Davis County, UT		85,622	96,482	12.7	
Morgan County, UT		98,332	101,572	3.3	
Salt Lake County, UT		78,719	90,360	15.1	
Summit County, UT		111,070	119,592	7.7	
Tooele County, UT		75,714	83,730	10.6	
Utah County, UT		73,745	83,938	13.8	

Wasatch County, UT	83,059	99,014	19.2
Weber County, UT	71,089	80,961	13.9
State of Utah	75,188	84,590	12.5

Source: 2011 - 2015 U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey 2016 - 2020 U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey

Median Family Incomes have been inflation-adjusted and are expressed in 2020 dollars.

## **Housing Characteristics**

Overall, there are a total of 856,782 housing units in the assessment area. The majority of housing units are owner-occupied at 65.6 percent, while 27.5 percent are rental units and 7.0 percent are vacant housing units. The majority of the assessment area's housing stock is owner-occupied units located in middle- and upper-income census tracts (approximately 84.5 percent), with only 15.5 percent of owner-occupied housing units located in low- and moderate-income census tracts.

A method to understand poverty and housing outcomes is calculating housing cost burden. The housing cost burden is the ratio of a household's gross monthly housing costs to the household's gross monthly income. Housing cost burden, as defined by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), takes these quantitative ratios, and assigns qualitative values to them. If a household's housing cost is above 30.0 percent of its income, then that household is considered housing cost burdened. If housing cost is above 50.0 percent, then the household is severely housing cost burdened. The following table shows the percentage of renters and owners spending more than 30.0 percent of household income on housing costs. Among the geographies analyzed, Davis County had the highest percentage of low-income renters facing a housing cost burden at 80.0 percent, which is slightly above Utah and Wasatch Counties 78.4 rate of percent, and marginally above Salt Lake County's rate of 77.5 percent. Moderate-income renters had the highest percentage of housing cost burden in Wasatch County at 59.8 percent, followed by Utah County at 35.2 percent, and finally Toole County at 34.5 percent. For homeowners, Summit County had the highest percentage cost burden for low-income homeowners, with 66.5 percent of low-income, followed by 64.8 percent of Salt Lake County, and 62.8 percent in Utah County. For moderateincome owners in the assessment area, 40.6 percent of owners were overburdened in Morgan County, followed closely by Summit County with 40.3 percent, and Utah County with 36.6 percent. Community representatives stated the continued need for affordable homeownership and rental opportunities, especially for low- and moderate-income families. Finally, representatives noted many low-cost homes were being purchased by investors, further exacerbating the affordable housing shortage.

Housing Cost Burden							
	Cos	t Burden - Rent	ers	Cost Burden - Owners			
	Low	Moderate	All	Low	Moderate	All	
Area	Income	Income	Renters	Income	Income	Owners	
Davis County, UT	80.0%	28.8%	37.2%	59.7%	30.8%	14.8%	
Morgan County, UT	43.9%	14.8%	22.4%	45.3%	40.6%	15.7%	
Weber County, UT	66.4%	20.8%	37.7%	57.2%	26.1%	17.1%	
Ogden-Clearfield, UT MSA	71.7%	23.8%	36.8%	58.4%	28.6%	15.8%	
Salt Lake County, UT	77.5%	33.0%	40.7%	64.8%	35.6%	18.6%	
Tooele County, UT	69.3%	34.5%	39.7%	61.8%	31.6%	17.9%	
Salt Lake City, UT MSA	77.2%	33.1%	40.7%	64.6%	35.3%	18.6%	
Summit County, UT	67.8%	23.8%	38.8%	66.5%	40.3%	21.0%	
Wasatch County, UT	78.4%	59.8%	44.2%	60.3%	28.1%	19.1%	
NonMSA Utah	64.2%	23.8%	35.6%	48.3%	23.9%	17.1%	
Utah County, UT	78.4%	35.2%	43.6%	62.8%	36.6%	17.9%	
Provo-Orem, UT MSA	77.8%	34.8%	43.3%	61.7%	36.2%	17.9%	
Utah	74.6%	31.4%	40.2%	59.8%	32.6%	17.8%	
Cost Burden is housing cost that ear	Cost Rurden is housing cost that equals 30 percent or more of household income						

Cost Burden is housing cost that equals 30 percent or more of household income

Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 2015-2019 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy

## **Employment Characteristics**

While unemployment rates fluctuated across all counties, they are generally aligned and experienced declines from 2018 until the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Subsequently, all counties saw declining unemployment rates in 2021 as local economies began to normalize from the economic downturn cause by the COVID-19 pandemic. The following table presents the unemployment trends for the counties in the assessment area and the state of Utah from 2018 to 2021.

Unemployment Rates (%)					
Area	2018	2019	2020	2021	
Davis County, UT	2.7	2.4	4.1	2.4	
Morgan County, UT	2.6	2.4	3.4	2.1	
Salt Lake County, UT	2.8	2.5	5.1	2.8	
Summit County, UT	2.8	2.4	7.2	2.9	
Tooele County, UT	3.2	2.8	4.7	2.9	
Utah County, UT	2.7	2.4	3.8	2.3	
Wasatch County, UT	3.0	2.7	6.5	2.9	
Weber County, UT	3.3	2.9	4.9	2.9	
State of Utah	2.9	2.6	4.7	2.7	
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), Lo	cal Area Unemplo	yment Statistics (	LAUS)	_	

## **Industry Characteristics**

The assessment area has a large and diverse set of public and private industry sectors. In the private sector, retail trade has the most employees by industry, followed by professional and technical services, and health care and social assistance. Community partners confirmed the breadth and diversity of the assessment area industries.

## **Community Representatives**

Organizations who received community development financing from Ally Bank were interviewed in order to provide specific context regarding impactful lending, investment, and service opportunities and how they were addressed by the bank. In addition, information was reviewed from the bank's community needs assessment, which was performed in conjunction with the development of Ally Bank's Strategic Plan.

Representatives indicated that while economic conditions are generally stable, the assessment area needs more affordable housing units and additional capital to improve existing housing for LMI individuals and families. In addition to affordable housing, organizations stated the need for funding and affordable workspaces to support small business development and job creation. Additionally, educational opportunities for LMI students, including access to early- and higher-education, was discussed as a need within the UTAA.

#### CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

The Plan established two main goals for both the Utah Assessment Area (UTAA) and for the Broader Statewide and Regional Area (BSRA) as follows:

- Combined \$3.7 billion in CRA-Qualifying Loans and CD Loans and Investments
- Provide 2,500 hours of CD Services

In addition to the two overall main goals, the Plan established annual interim goals and specific sub-goals. Ally Bank's performance relative to each goal exceeded the goals for an Outstanding rating. Ally Bank's performance thresholds and actual performance for 2020-2022 are presented in the following tests.

#### LENDING AND INVESTMENT TEST

Ally Bank's approved 2020-2022 Strategic Plan combined CRA-Qualifying Loans with CD Loans and Investments; therefore, for the purpose of this evaluation, the lending test and investment test have been combined. Ally Bank's performance relative to the lending test and investment test is rated Outstanding.

Ally Bank originated over \$4.0 billion in CRA qualifying loans and CD loans and investments throughout the UTAA and BSRA, exceeding the bank's \$3.7 billion threshold for an Outstanding rating. Ally Bank also achieved all of the annual interim goals in its Strategic Plan. In meeting the 2022 combined loan and investment annual interim goal range, Ally Bank utilized the carryover provision of its Strategic Plan. This allows any amount in excess of the designated "annual interim goal" amount, in one calendar year for a certain asset category, to be applied toward the next calendar year's "annual interim goal" amount for that same asset category. Details and the table below present the bank's CRA-Qualifying Loans and CD loans and investments during the evaluation period. Due to rounding, the values below are considered to be approximate.

- The bank originated \$888.0 million in home mortgage and \$81.9 million in auto loans.
- The bank originated \$849.2 million in community development loans.
- The bank's community development investments totaled \$2.2 billion.
- Grants for community development purposes totaled \$4.0 million.

Con	Combined Goal: CRA Qualifying Loans and Community Development Loans and Investments						
	Dollars Originated in Assessment Area and Broader State and Regional Area						
Year	'ear Low Satisfactory High Satisfactory Outstanding Actual Performance						
2020	670 million-1.0 billion	790-1.1 billion	890 million-1.3 billion	1.4 billion			
2021	780 million-1.1 billion	920-1.3 billion	1.0 billion-1.5 billion	1.5 billion			
2022	900 million-1.2 billion	1.1 billion-1.5 billion	1.2 billion-1.6 billion	1.1 billion			
Total	2.8 billion	3.3 billion	3.7 billion	4.0 billion			

The Plan also established UTAA specific sub-goals for three categories:

- Small auto loans to LMI borrowers (consumer) for purchase of a vehicle and closed-end loans (<\$1MM) to businesses in LMI geographies for purchase of a vehicle;
- Mortgage Loans to LMI Borrowers; and
- CD Loans and Investments

Ally Bank's performance relative to each sub-goal exceeded the goals for an Outstanding rating. Ally Bank's performance thresholds and actual performance for the 2020-2022 UTAA sub-goals are presented in the following tables. Sub-goals specific to the BSRA were not identified in the Plan; however, those dollars are presented in the combined goal as stated above.

## Small Loans to LMI Borrowers and to Businesses in LMI Geographies

Small auto loans to LMI borrowers (consumer) for purchase of a vehicle and closed-end loans (<\$1MM) to businesses in LMI geographies for purchase of a vehicle were designated as a combined sub-goal under the bank's Plan. Loans to LMI borrowers for purchase of a vehicle was designated as a goal to reflect performance in helping meet the credit needs of LMI individuals within the assessment area. In addition, as the bank only originates or purchases business purpose loans for auto finance, a goal for small auto loans to businesses in LMI geographies was established to reflect performance in providing small dollar credit to businesses. This goal contains a requirement that at least 90 percent of the small business auto loans must be in amounts of \$100,000 or less.

The following table presents information regarding Ally Bank's performance relative to benchmarks established within the assessment area for Plan years 2020-2022.

S	Small Auto Loans to LMI Borrowers and Businesses in LMI Geographies within UTAA						
	Go	al Thresholds (\$ in Milli	ons)	Actual Performance			
Year	Low Satisfactory	High Satisfactory	High Satisfactory Outstanding				
2020	15.0	18.00	20.00	24.86			
2021	17.0	19.00	22.00	28.42			
2022	18.0	21.00	24.00	28.56			
Total	50.0	58.00	66.00	81.84			

Actual performance exceeded goal thresholds for an Outstanding rating in lending to both lowand moderate-income geographies and borrowers in each year of the Plan, with the total aggregate lending substantially exceeding that threshold. Further, the bank averaged 98 percent over the three-year period for small business auto loans in amounts of \$100,000 or less, exceeding the 90 percent requirement.

## **Home Mortgage Loans to LMI Borrowers**

Home mortgage loans to LMI borrowers for the purchase or refinance of a residence was designated as a sub-goal under the bank's Plan. Home mortgage loans to LMI borrowers was designated as a goal to reflect performance in helping meet the credit needs of LMI individuals within the assessment area and Ally Bank's commitment to affordable single-family housing.

	Home Mortgage Loans to LMI Borrowers in UTAA						
	Go	al Thresholds (\$ in Millio	ons)	Actual Performance			
Year	Low Satisfactory	High Satisfactory	Actual Performance				
2020	14.00	16.00	18.00	19.93			
2021	15.00	18.00	20.00	20.62			
2022	17.00	19.00	22.00	22.63			
Total	46.00	53.00	60.00	63.18			

Actual performance exceeded goal thresholds for an Outstanding rating in lending to low- and moderate-income borrowers in each year of the Plan, with the total aggregate lending exceeding that threshold.

## **Community Development Lending and Investments**

Ally Bank's CD Loans and Investments performance thresholds and actual performance for 2020-2022 in the UTAA are presented in the following table.

Community Development Loans and Investments								
Dollars Originated in UTAA (\$ in Millions)								
Year	Low Satisfactory	High Satisfactory	Outstanding	Actual Performance				
2020	210.0	240.0	270.0	344.3				
2021	220.0	260.0	290.0	408.5				
2022	240.0	280.0	320.0	284.2				
Total	670.00	780.0	880.0	1,037.0				

The bank's CD lending originations and the number of dollars in new investments greatly exceeded the established thresholds for an Outstanding rating in each year of the Plan. Under the Strategic Plan Carryover, Ally Bank can add at least \$192M (\$74M for 2020 and \$118M for 2021), the total amount over the annual interim goal amounts for 2020 and 2021, to its actual performance amount of \$284M, resulting in at least \$476M for 2022 which meets the criteria for an Outstanding rating for that year.

A number of loans originated were focused in areas identified, based on the needs assessment, as being particularly innovative, flexible, and responsive. Loans often required special expertise and effort to provide a benefit that would not otherwise be possible. Notable examples of impactful community development loans include:

- Ally Bank made a \$5 million bridge loan to a housing organization for acquisition of rental
  housing units that will provide temporary housing for victims of domestic violence who
  are unhoused and economically disadvantaged with no other housing options. This loan
  processed at an accelerated pace to accommodate contract expiration dates and at a below
  market rate.
- The bank participated with \$21.4 million in the financing of a multifamily Low-Income
  Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) rental project for formerly unhoused veterans in which 100%
  percent of all units were income restricted to low- and moderate-income individuals.
  LIHTC transactions indicate a high level of knowledge, familiarity, and skill with a
  complex tax credit investment model.

The bank's investments and grants further highlighted a commitment to responding to identified community development needs, particularly in leadership positions and in response to needs resulting from the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. Notable examples include:

- Four investments totaling \$43 million in women of color and minority-led venture capital funds that provide debt and equity financing to small businesses that may otherwise have difficulties obtaining it. Ally Bank's investment in these seed capital funds is particularly responsive to assessment area needs as it funds small investments to entrepreneurs.
- Over \$17 million in aggregate investments into four responsive funds that are playing a critical role in the development plans of the Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City that are helping in the creation and retention of small businesses and jobs.
- Donations totaling \$100,000 to an organization that provides a program supporting women of color business owners. Ally Bank's donation supported the first cohort of women going through the program. In addition to grants, Ally Bank provided service hours including board representation and conducting financial education.
- Donations totaling \$30,000 to assist with access to technology and tools for low-income students disparately impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic due to remote learning.
- Donations totaling \$15,000 to support the creation of a Center of Economic Recovery, which helps low-income families recover from the COVID-19 pandemic and advance homeownership in Black communities.

#### SERVICE TEST

Ally Bank's performance relative to the service test is rated Outstanding. The 2020-2022 Strategic Plan performance thresholds and actual performance are presented in the table below. The Plan also required that at least 50 percent of the services per year must be located in the UTAA.

Community Development Services								
Service Hours Performed in the Assessment Area and Broader State and Regional Area								
Year	Low Satisfactory	High Satisfactory	Outstanding	Actual Performance				
2020	600	700	750	771.5				
2021	650	750	850	931.0				
2022	750	800	900	918.3				
Total	2,000	2,250	2,500	2,620.8				

Actual performance exceeds the number of hours necessary to meet the threshold for Outstanding in each year of the plan. Further, Ally Bank satisfied the requirement of at least 50 percent of service hours completed in the UTAA annually with an average of 83 percent over the three-year period, substantially exceeding the 50 percent requirement. Many of these service hours were in leadership positions on boards and in providing technical assistance regarding financial services. The extent of the services provided reflect a high level of responsiveness to the variety of needs in the assessment area. Examples of the bank's service hours are presented below.

- Board of Director and Loan Committee memberships of various organizations which
  facilitate the development and preservation of affordable housing demonstrate Ally Bank's
  commitment to affordable housing efforts throughout its assessment area and the BRSA.
- Technical assistance through the development of a financial education program tailored specifically to an organization that provides services to individuals who were formerly incarcerated. The bank also developed a grant program which provides savings matching for individuals going through the financial education program.
- Board of Director memberships, including providing financial education, at several local schools.

#### FAIR LENDING OR OTHER ILLEGAL CREDIT PRACTICES REVIEW

No evidence of discriminatory or other illegal credit practices inconsistent with helping to meet community credit needs was identified.

# **APPENDIX A – Scope of Examination**

SCOPE OF EXAMINATION									
TIME PERIOD REVIEWED	January 1, 2020 - December 31, 2022								
FINANCIAL INSTITUTION			PRODUCTS REVIEWED						
Ally Bank			Small auto loans to business, Consumer auto loans, LMI Mortgages						
AFFILIATE(S)	AFFILIATE RELATIONSHIP		PRODUCTS REVIEWED						
Ally Financial, Inc.	Parent company		Small auto loans to business, Consumer auto loans, LMI Mortgages						
LIST OF ASSESSMENT AREAS AND TYPE OF EXAMINATION									
ASSESSMENT AREA	TYPE OF EXAMINATION	BRANCHES VISITED	OTHER INFORMATION						
Salt Lake City-Provo-Orem CSA #482	Full Review	N/A	N/A						
1									

## APPENDIX B - Glossary

**Affiliate:** Any company that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with another company. A company is under common control with another company if the same company directly or indirectly controls both companies. A bank subsidiary is controlled by the bank and is, therefore, an affiliate.

**Affordability ratio:** To determine housing affordability, the affordability ratio is calculated by dividing median household income by median housing value. This ratio allows the comparison of housing affordability across assessment areas and/or communities. An area with a high ratio generally has more affordable housing than an area with a low ratio.

**Aggregate lending:** The number of loans originated and purchased by all lenders subject to reporting requirements as a percentage of the aggregate number of loans originated and purchased by all lenders in the MSA/assessment area.

American Community Survey Data (ACS): The American Community Survey (ACS) data is based on a nationwide survey designed to provide local communities with reliable and timely demographic, social, economic, and housing data each year. The Census Bureau first released data for geographies of all sizes in 2010. This data is known as the "five-year estimate data." The five-year estimate data is used by the FFIEC as the base file for data used in conjunction with consumer compliance and CRA examinations.<sup>1</sup>

### Area Median Income (AMI): AMI means –

- 1. The median family income for the MSA, if a person or geography is located in an MSA, or for the metropolitan division, if a person or geography is located in an MSA that has been subdivided into metropolitan divisions; or
- 2. The statewide nonmetropolitan median family income, if a person or geography is located outside an MSA.

**Assessment area**: Assessment area means a geographic area delineated in accordance with section 228.41.

**Automated teller machine (ATM)**: An automated teller machine means an automated, unstaffed banking facility owned or operated by, or operated exclusively for, the bank at which deposits are received, cash dispersed or money lent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Source: FFIEC press release dated October 19, 2011.

**Bank**: Bank means a state member as that term is defined in section 3(d)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 USC 1813(d)(2)), except as provided in section 228.11(c)(3), and includes an uninsured state branch (other than a limited branch) of a foreign bank described in section 228.11(c)(2).

**Branch**: Branch refers to a staffed banking facility approved as a branch, whether shared or unshared, including, for example, a mini-branch in a grocery store or a branch operated in conjunction with any other local business or nonprofit organization.

**Census tract:** Small subdivisions of metropolitan and other densely populated counties. Census tract boundaries do not cross county lines; however, they may cross the boundaries of metropolitan statistical areas. They usually have between 2,500 and 8,000 persons, and their physical size varies widely depending upon population density. Census tracts are designed to be homogeneous with respect to population characteristics, economic status, and living conditions to allow for statistical comparisons.

Combined Statistical Area (CSAs): Adjacent metropolitan statistical areas/metropolitan divisions (MSA/MDs) and micropolitan statistical areas may be combined into larger Combined Statistical Areas based on social and economic ties as well as commuting patterns. The ties used as the basis for CSAs are not as strong as the ties used to support MSA/MD and micropolitan statistical area designations; however, they do bind the larger area together and may be particularly useful for regional planning authorities and the private sector. Under Regulation BB, assessment areas may be presented under a Combined Statistical Area heading; however, all analysis is conducted on the basis of median income figures for MSA/MDs and the applicable state-wide non metropolitan median income figure.

**Community Development**: The financial supervisory agencies have adopted the following definition for community development:

- 1. Affordable housing, including for multi-family housing, for low- and moderate-income households;
- 2. Community services tailored to meet the needs of low- and moderate-income individuals;
- 3. Activities that promote economic development by financing businesses or farms that meet the size eligibility standards of the Small Business Administration's Development Company or Small Business Investment Company programs (13 CFR 121.301) or have gross annual revenues of \$1 million or less; or
- 4. Activities that revitalize or stabilize low- or moderate-income geographies.

Effective September 1, 2005, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation have adopted the following additional language as part of the revitalize or stabilize definitions of community development. Activities that revitalize or stabilize:

1) Low- or moderate-income geographies;

- 2) Designated disaster areas; or
- 3) Distressed or underserved nonmetropolitan middle-income geographies designated by the Board, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and Office of the Comptroller of the Currency based on:
  - a. Rates of poverty, unemployment or population loss; or
  - b. Population size, density and dispersion. Activities that revitalize and stabilize geographies designated based on population size, density and dispersion if they help to meet essential community services including the needs of low- and moderate-income individuals.

## Community Development Loan: A community development loan means a loan that:

- 1) Has as its primary purpose community development; and
- 2) Except in the case of a wholesale or limited purpose bank
  - a. Has not been reported or collected by the bank or an affiliate for consideration in the bank's assessment as a home mortgage, small business, small farm, or consumer loan, unless it is a multi-family housing loan (as described in the regulation implementing the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act); and
  - b. Benefits the bank's assessment area(s) or a broader statewide or regional area that includes the bank's assessment area(s).

## **Community Development Service**: A community development service means a service that:

- 1) Has as its primary purpose community development; and
- 2) Is related to the provision of financial services.

Consumer loan: A loan(s) to one or more individuals for household, family, or other personal expenditures. A consumer loan does not include a home mortgage, small business, or small farm loan. This definition includes the following categories of loans: motor vehicle, credit card, other consumer secured loan, includes loans for home improvement purposes not secured by a dwelling, and other consumer unsecured loan, includes loans for home improvement purposes not secured.

Family: Includes a householder and one or more other persons living in the same household who are related to the householder by birth, marriage, or adoption. The number of family households always equals the number of families; however, a family household may also include non-relatives living with the family. Families are classified by type as either a married couple family or other family, which is further classified into "male householder" (a family with a male household and no wife present) or "female householder" (a family with a female householder and no husband present).

Fair market rent: Fair market rents (FMRs) are gross rent estimates. They include the shelter rent plus the cost of all tenant-paid utilities, except telephones, cable or satellite television service, and internet service. HUD sets FMRs to assure that a sufficient supply of rental housing is available to their program participants. To accomplish this objective, FMRs must be both high enough to permit a selection of units and neighborhoods and low enough to serve as many low-income families as possible. The level at which FMRs are set is expressed as a percentile point within the rent distribution of standard-quality rental housing units. The current definition used is the 40th percentile rent, the dollar amount below which 40 percent of the standard-quality rental housing units are rented. The 40th percentile rent is drawn from the distribution of rents of all units occupied by recent movers (renter households who moved to their present residence within the past 15 months). HUD is required to ensure that FMRs exclude non-market rental housing in their computation. Therefore, HUD excludes all units falling below a specified rent level determined from public housing rents in HUD's program databases as likely to be either assisted housing or otherwise at a below-market rent, and units less than two years old.

**Full review:** Performance under the Lending, Investment, and Service Tests is analyzed considering performance context, quantitative factors (for example, geographic distribution, borrower distribution, and amount of qualified investments) and qualitative factors (for example, innovativeness, complexity and responsiveness).

**Geography**: A census tract delineated by the U.S. Bureau of the Census in the most recent decennial census.

Home Mortgage Disclosure Act: The statute that requires certain mortgage lenders that do business or have banking offices in metropolitan statistical areas to file annual summary reports of their mortgage lending activity. The reports include data such as the race, gender and income of the applicant(s) and the disposition of the application(s) (for example, approved, denied, and withdrawn).

Home mortgage loans: Are defined in conformance with the definitions of home mortgage activity under the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act and include closed end mortgage loans secured by a dwelling and open-end lines of credit secured by a dwelling. This includes loans for home purchase, refinancing and loans for multi-family housing. It does not include loans for home improvement purposes that are not secured by a dwelling.

**Household**: Includes all persons occupying a housing unit. Persons not living in households are classified as living in group quarters. In 100 percent tabulations, the count of households always equals the count of occupied housing units.

#### **Income Level**: Income level means:

1) Low-income – an individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median income,

- or a median family income that is less than 50 percent in the case of a census tract;
- 2) Moderate-income an individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent in the case of a census tract;
- 3) Middle-income an individual income that is at least 80 percent and less than 120 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 80 percent and less than 120 percent in the case of a census tract; and
- 4) Upper-income an individual income that is at least 120 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 120 percent in the case of a census tract.

Additional Guidance: .12(m) Income Level: The median family income levels (MFI) for census tracts are calculated using the income data from the United States Census Bureau's American Community Survey and geographic definitions from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and are updated approximately every five years (.12(m) Income Level).

**Limited-purpose bank**: This term refers to a bank that offers only a narrow product line such as credit card or motor vehicle loans to a regional or broader market and for which a designation as a limited-purpose bank is in effect, in accordance with section 228.25(b).

**Limited review**: Performance under the Lending, Investment and Services test is analyzed using only quantitative factors (for example, geographic distribution, borrower distribution, amount of investments and branch office distribution).

**Loan location**: Under this definition, a loan is located as follows:

- 1) Consumer loan is located in the census tract where the borrower resides;
- 2) Home mortgage loan is located in the census tract where the property to which the loan relates is located;
- 3) Small business and small farm loan is located in the census tract where the main business facility or farm is located or where the loan proceeds have been applied as indicated by the borrower.

**Loan product office (LPO)**: This term refers to a staffed facility, other than a branch, that is open to the public and that provides lending-related services, such as loan information and applications.

**Market share:** The number of loans originated and purchased by the institution as a percentage of the aggregate number of loans originated and purchased by all reporting lenders in the MA/assessment area.

**Median Family Income (MFI):** The median income determined by the U.S. Census Bureau every ten years and used to determine the income level category of geographies. Also, the median income determined by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) annually that

is used to determine the income level category of individuals. For any given area, the median is the point at which half of the families have income above it and half below it.

**Metropolitan Area:** A metropolitan statistical area (**MSA**) or a metropolitan division (**MD**) as defined by the Office of Management and Budget. A MSA is a core area containing at least one urbanized area of 50,000 or more inhabitants, together with adjacent communities having a high degree of economic and social integration with that core. A MD is a division of a MSA based on specific criteria including commuting patterns. Only a MSA that has a single core population of at least 2.5 million may be divided into MDs. A metropolitan statistical area that crosses into two or more bordering states is called a multistate metropolitan statistical area.

**Multifamily:** Refers to a residential structure that contains five or more units.

**Nonmetropolitan area**: This term refers to any area that is not located in a metropolitan statistical area or metropolitan division. Micropolitan statistical areas are included in the definition of a nonmetropolitan area; a micropolitan statistical area has an urban core population of at least 10,000 but less than 50,000.

**Owner-occupied units:** Includes units occupied by the owner or co-owner, even if the unit has not been fully paid for or is mortgaged.

**Qualified Investment**: This term refers to any lawful investment, deposit, membership share, or grant that has as its primary purpose community development.

**Rated area**: This term refers to a state or multistate metropolitan area. For institutions with domestic branch offices in one state only, the institution's CRA rating is the state's rating. If the institution maintains domestic branch offices in more than one state, the institution will receive a rating for each state in which those branch offices are located. If the institution maintains domestic branch offices in at least two states in a multistate metropolitan statistical area, the institution will receive a rating for the multistate metropolitan area.

**Small Bank**: This term refers to a bank that as of December 31 of either of the prior two calendar years, had assets of less than \$1.252 billion. Intermediate small bank means a small bank with assets of at least \$313 million as of December 31 of both of the prior two calendar years and less than \$1.252 billion as of December 31 of either of the prior two calendar years.

Annual Adjustment: The dollar figures in paragraph (u)(1) of this section shall be adjusted annually and published by the Board, based on the year-to-year change in the average of the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers, not seasonally adjusted, for each 12-month period ending in November, with rounding to the nearest million.

**Small Business Loan:** This term refers to a loan that is included in "loans to small businesses" as defined in the instructions for preparation of the Consolidated Report of Condition and Income. The loans have original amounts of \$1 million or less and are either secured nonfarm, nonresidential properties or are classified as commercial and industrial loans.

**Small Farm Loan:** This term refers to a loan that is included in "loans to small farms" as defined in the instructions for preparation of the Consolidated Report of Condition and Income. These loans have original amounts of \$500 thousand or less and are either secured by farmland, including farm residential and other improvements, or are classified as loans to finance agricultural production and other loans to farmers.

Wholesale Bank: This term refers to a bank that is not in the business of extending home mortgage, small business, small farm or consumer loans to retail customers, and for which a designation as a wholesale bank is in effect, in accordance with section 228.25(b).